IN THE SUPREME COU	RT OF	THE STATE OF NEVADA	
GLENFORD BUDD,)	Electronically Filed Mar 27 2015 03:09	p.m.
Appellant,)	Tracie K. Lindemar Clerk of Supreme C	1
VS.)	Casa No. : 66915	
STATE OF NEVADA,)	Case 110 00013	
)		
Respondent.)		
	/		
APPELLAN'	T'S OP	ENING BRIEF	
Steven B. Wolfson Clark County District Attorney Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 Attorney for Respondent		Matthew D. Carling 1100 S. Tenth Street Las Vegas, NV 89101 Attorney for Appellant

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

NRAP 3, 3C and 4 provide this Court with jurisdiction over this appeal from the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order, entered on or about October 17, 2014, (the "Dismissal Order"), by the Clark County District Court dismissing Glenford Budd's (the "Appellant") First Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus Post Conviction, filed on May 23, 2013 (the "First **Petition**"), Second Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, filed on October 25, 2013 (the "Second Petition"), Third Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus and Memorandum Regarding Petitioner's Exhibits (In Camera Review), filed on December 12, 2013 (the "Third Petition"), and Fourth Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, which was filed on December 26, 2013 (the "Fourth Petition", or collectively, all four petitions hereinafter referred to as the "Petitions"). A copy of the Dismissal Order is found in the Appellant's Appendix, pp. 003091-003103 (hereinafter "APLT. APP.")

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

T. TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY DETERMINED THAT MR. BROOKS WAS EFFECTIVE COUNSEL WHEN HE FAILED TO ADEQUATELY PREPARE FOR TRIAL OR RETAIN EXPERT DEFENSE WITNESSES; FAILED TO PROVIDE A DEFENSE ON PREMEDITATION THAT WAS **OBJECTIVELY** REASONABLE **UNDER** THE **CIRCUMSTANCES OF THIS** CASE, **FAILED** TO ADEQUATELY SUBJECT THE STATE'S CASE TO THE

1	
2	
3	
4	
5	
6	
7	
8	
9	
10	
11	
12	
13 14	
1 4 15	
16	
17	
18	
19	
20	
21	
22	defe
23	A DD
23	AH
24	coun
25	193.
26	June
27	0000
28	APL
29	

30

ADVERSARIAL PROCESS; AND FAILED TO OBTAIN BUDD'S PRIOR AUTHORIZATION TO ADOPT THE STRATEGY OF ADMITTING BUDD'S GUILT TO THE JURY.

- II. THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY DENIED BUDD'S CLAIM OF CUMULATIVE ERROR ON INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL GIVEN THERE WAS A REASONABLE PROBABILITY OF A DIFFERENT RESULT IN THE OUTCOME OF THE PROCEEDINGS ABSENT THE INEFFECTIVENESS.
- III. THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY DETERMINED ANY ERRORS IN BROOKS' REPRESENTATION OF BUDD WERE HARMLESS GIVEN THE OVERWHELMING EVIDENCE, FAILING TO FIND THE HARMLESSNESS BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT AS REQUIRED FOR ERRORS PERTAINING TO CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 29, 2003, a Commitment and Order to Appear was issued for defendant and appellant herein, Glenford Anthony Budd ("Budd"). APLT. APP. 000002. Glenford Budd was charged by Criminal Complaint with three counts of Murder with use of a Deadly Weapon (NRS 200.010, 200.030, and 193.165) by the Justice Court in Las Vegas Township. APLT. APP. 000005. On June 2, 2003, Budd made his initial appearance in Justice Court. APLT. APP. 000022. After continuance, the preliminary hearing began June 16, 2003. APLT. APP. 000028.

The Information was filed on June 26, 2003, which charged Budd with three (3) counts of Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon pursuant to NRS

200.010, NRS 200.030 and NRS 193.165, for the murders of Dajon Jones, Derrick Jones, and Jason Moore. APLT. APP. 000024. On July 2, 2003, an arraignment was held whereat Budd pled not guilty and waived his right to a speedy trial. APLT. APP. 000003-000003.

On July 25, 2003, the State filed its notice that it intended to seek the death penalty on the basis of multiple counts of murder in the first degree. APLT. APP. VOL. I. 000099. At arraignment, Budd pleaded not guilty to the charges contained in the Information. APLT. APP. 000129.

On January 5, 2004, Budd's defense counsel, Howard S. Brooks (hereinafter "**Brooks**") sought to vacate and continue the trial based on his case load at the time, which consisted of eleven murder trials, three of which were seeking the death penalty. APLT. APP. 000132-000134. Brooks' declaration stated that he was unable to focus and prepare for the Budd murder trial and he did not have all the information necessary for a mitigation case to go to trial. *Id.*

On September 14, 2005 Brooks filed thirteen (13) motions on Budd's behalf. APLT. APP. 000231-000233; 000234-000237; 000238-000242; 000263-000266; 000243-000247; 000248-000255; 000256-000262; 000267-000275; 000276-000279; 000374-000382; 000347-000352; 000369-000373; 000353-000368. Among these, he filed a *Motion to Compel* for exchange of the

Jury Instructions on the first day of trial, a Motion to Compel Recordings pertaining to all proceedings (APLT. APP. 000231-000233), a motion to exclude all jurors who knew the victims or their families, and for disqualification of all jurors who would vote for the Death Penalty (APLT. APP. 000238-000242; 000263-000266), a motion to bifurcate the penalty phase from the guilt phase of trial, and a request that the defense speak last in the penalty phase (APLT. APP. 000248-000255), a motion to have all jury selection completed one week prior to the trial (APLT. APP. 000267-000275), a motion to preclude reference to any part of the trial as the "guilt phase" (APLT. APP. 000276-000279), a motion to strike certain aggravating circumstances in the State's notice of their intention to seek the death penalty arguing they could not rely on multiple counts of murder because it was unconstitutional as ex post facto (APLT. APP. 000374-000382), and a Motion of Limine Prohibiting Prosecution in Argument, for Order Court takes Judicial Notice of Authority Cited in Motion if Defense Objects at Trial to Improper Argument (Motion 1) (APLT. APP. 000138-000230).

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

On September 21, 2004, the State opposed the request for all recordings of the proceedings stating it would be overly burdensome (APLT. APP. 000291-000293), opposed the exclusion of jurors who knew the victims or their families arguing that a blanket exclusion would be impermissible (APLT. APP.

000294-000296), conceded that a juror who automatically voted for the death penalty was not impartial (APLT. APP. 000300-000303), opposed bifurcation and objected to having the defense speak last in the penalty phase citing NRS 175.14, which indicates the State is to conclude the proceedings (APLT. APP. 000288-000290), opposed exclusion of reference to the "guilt phase" stating it had faith the jury would use evidence and not characterization to decide the case (APLT. APP. 000297-000299), and opposed having jury selection completed one week prior to trial citing that the current process was adequate. (APLT. APP. 000308-000311).

On September 28, 2004, the State gave its *Notice of Witnesses*, which included Winston Budd, COR, Lazon Jones, Sheryl Jones, Terry Key, Greg Lewis, Celeste Palau, Tracey Richards, Krissy Smith, P. Spencer, J. Vaccaro, M. Wallace, Nakia Washington, and M. Wildemann. APLT. APP. 000345-000346. The State also filed a *Notice of Expert Witnesses*, including Louise Renhard (crime scene analysis), David Welch (DNA analysis), James Krylo (firearm, tool work analysis), Marc Washington (crime scene analysis), Dr. Rexenne Maxwell (cause and manner of death), David Horn (crime scene analysis), and Thomas Kern (crime scene analysis). APLT. APP. 000312-000344.

On October 4, 2004, the State opposed Budd's motion to strike certain aggravating circumstances in the State's notice to seek the death penalty. APLT. APP. 000404-000410. The State argued there was nothing unconstitutional regarding the factors alleged. *Id*.

On October 4, 2004, Brooks filed a motion to prevent, during the possible penalty phase, the characterization of the victims and impact of the victims' loss on the families. APLT. APP. 000347-000352. He cited *Booth v. Maryland* 482.U.S. 496 (1987), which precluded impact evidence. *Id.* He also filed a separate motion to preclude cumulative impact evidence and a motion to dismiss notice of intent based on the concept that the Nevada death penalty scheme violates Due Process. APLT. APP. 000353-000368.

On October 8, 2004, the State filed its amended intent to seek the death penalty, citing the transcript of preliminary hearing as factual basis for the amendment. APLT. APP. 000387. On October 12, 2004, the State opposed the impact evidence motion, arguing that anyone could produce impact evidence at the penalty phase of the hearing. APLT. APP. 000396-000399. The State also opposed the cumulative evidence statement. APLT. APP. 000392-000395. On October 13, 2004, the State filed its opposition to Budd's motion to strike notice of intent. *Id*.

On November 21, 2005, the Defense filed its notice of expert witnesses in accordance with NRS 174.234(2). APLT. APP. 000416-000420. Budd designated John Paglini, Ph.D., to testify in the penalty phase of the hearing. *Id*. The designation was changed December 1, 2005. NRS 174.234(2). APLT. APP. 000423-000426. On November 23, 2005, the court heard the pretrial motions. APLT. APP. 000427-000442.

The jury trial commenced on December 5, 2005, and concluded on December 16, 2005. At the conclusion of trial, Budd was convicted by unanimous jury of three (3) counts of Murder With Use of a Deadly Weapon. APLT. APP. 001738-001740. On February 22, 2006, at the conclusion of the sentencing phase, the jury returned a verdict of Life in Prison without the possibility of parole on each of the three counts, to be run consecutively, with credit for 995 days for time served. *Id.* The *Judgment of Conviction (Jury Trial)* (the "Judgment") was filed on March 1, 2006. APLT. APP. 002011-002012. Budd timely appealed the Judgment on March 23, 2006 (the "Judgment Appeal"). APLT. APP. 002517-002519.

Budd's Opening Brief in the Judgment Appeal was filed on or about August 17, 2006. (See Opening Brief). Budd argued therein a single issue challenging that the evidence was insufficient to support the jury's verdict. The unpublished Order of Affirmance was entered on January 9, 2007. This Court

determined circumstantial evidence may support a conviction and that the direct and circumstantial evidence presented to the jury reasonably inferred Budd was guilty of the first-degree murders with the use of a deadly weapon. APLT. APP. 002561-002566. Thus, since it is for the jury to determine the weight and credibility to give conflicting testimony, this Court determined not to disturb the verdict due to the substantial evidence in support of the verdict. APLT. APP. 002566. The Order of Remititur was entered February 6, 2007. APLT. APP. 002567.

Post-trial and post-appeal, Budd moved to hold Brooks in contempt for failure to provide him with a copy of the entire file. APLT. APP. 002583-002591. On July 12, 2007, The Clark County Public Defender filed its Response to Budd's Motion to Hold Clark County Public Defender in Contempt. APLT. APP. 002592-002594. Brooks averred that he turned over the file and it was not his duty after having been discharged to track down missing pages. *Id*.

On September 21, 2007, Budd filed his pro per *Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post Conviction)* (the "**Pro Per Petition**"), which argued the following grounds: (1) Brooks was ineffective for failing to conduct pre-trial investigation into Budd's factual innocence, as law enforcement only focused on Budd as the suspect; (2) Brooks failed to investigate the eye witness's

identification of Budd; (3) Brooks failed to object to the admission of uncharged bad acts at trial; (4) Brooks failed to call witnesses for the defense to show Budd's factual innocence; (5) Brooks had a conflict of interest in representing Budd, in that Brooks had not seen Budd for one and one-half years prior to the trial, Brooks gave up in his representation of Budd and, combined with his failure to investigate, Brooks failed to adequately represent Budd; (6) the admission of a witness's testimony from an earlier hearing violated Budd's right to confrontation of that witness; (7) Brooks conceded Budd's guilt during closing arguments in the guilt phase of the trial; (8) the State failed to disclose an agreement it had made in exchange for a witness's testimony at trial; (9) Brooks failed to obtain exculpatory evidence in contradiction of a hand-written letter supposedly written by Budd; (10) Brooks failed to object to prosecutorial misconduct; (11) Brooks failed to object to judicial misconduct; (12) Brooks failed to object to erroneous jury instructions; (13) Brooks was ineffective as appellate counsel for failing to challenge the constitutionality of the statutory definition of reasonable doubt; (14) Brooks failed to present meritorious issues on appeal; and (15) the accumulation of Brooks' errors was ineffective assistance and violated Budd's constitutional rights. APLT. APP. 002709-002749; 002750-002784. The State responded in opposition thereto. APLT. APP. 002797-002807. Based on the pleadings and transcripts, the district court

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

dismissed the Pro Per Petition without a hearing or appointing counsel for Budd. APLT. APP. 002808-002818, 002825-002827.

Budd timely appealed on January 23, 2008, from the dismissal of the Pro Per Petition, at the conclusion of which this Court reversed the district court and ordered that counsel be appointed to represent Budd in the post-conviction proceedings. APLT. APP. 002825; 002830; 002831-002834, 002908-002818; see Budd v. State, 281 P.3d 1158 (2009) (unpublished opinion) (the "Appeal Reversal"). The matter was then remitted back to the district court. APLT. APP. 002836. After the Appeal Reversal, the trial court entered its Order Setting Hearing Appointment of Counsel Re: Supreme Court Remand, which was filed on October 29, 2009. APLT. APP. 002837.

Budd filed his *First Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus Post Conviction* on May 23, 2013 (the "**First Petition**"). APLT. APP. 002847002915. The First Petition raised the following claims of error on the basis of ineffective assistance of counsel:

- A. Brooks failed to adequately prepare for trial;
- B. Brooks failed to present evidence supporting reasonable doubt on the question of premeditation;
- C. Brooks refused to allow Budd to participate in his own defense;
- D. Brooks failed to object to the district court rendering legal advice to Budd during the trial;
- E. Brooks violated court orders to Budd's prejudice;
- F. Brooks failed to communicate with Budd;
- G. Brooks failed to zealously represent Budd's interests;
- H. Brooks had a conflict of interest but continued to represent Budd;

I. Brooks failed to preserve the record on appeal; 1 J. Brooks made unauthorized admissions that violated Budd's right to 2 remain silent: 3 K. Brooks' unauthorized admissions eliminated Budd's presumption 4 of innocence; 5 L. Brooks' unauthorized admissions alleviated the State's burden of 6 proof; 7 M. Brooks improperly waived Budd's right to confront witnesses; 8 N. Brooks failed to evaluate Budd's competency to stand trial; 9 O. Brooks failed to retain expert defense witnesses, and; 10 P. The cumulative effect of the foregoing errors prejudiced Budd. 11 12 Id.13 On October 25, 2013, Budd filed his Second Supplemental Petition for Writ of 14 Habeas Corpus Post Conviction (the "Second Petition"). APLT. APP. 002919-15 002927. The Second Petition did not contain any new argument but attached 16 thereto as exhibits the electronic case notes from Brooks that are cited by the 17 First Petition. *Id.* Throughout the case, Brooks maintained electronic case notes, 18 which contain the following material entries: 19 a) On January 5, 2004, Brooks notes that while the case is set for 20 trial on February 23, 2004, he does not anticipate being ready. 21 The note specifically states, "HSB has not been able to pay 22 attention to this case, so before reading the letter, HSB assumed 23 the client was unhappy with our representations." (See Case 24 Notes, P. 19). 25 26 b) On June 16, 2004, Brooks notes that he told Budd that this was 27 not a case where he was going home anytime soon, but rather 28 one where he would probably spend the rest of his life in prison 29 or alternatively get the death penalty. Budd literally had no 30 reaction to this statement at all. He was not engaged. (See Case 31 Notes, P. 15). 32 33

- c) On June 18, 2004, Brooks notes that he spoke with Budd's grandmother, Karen who indicates that Budd tells her he will be coming home soon, and that the CCDC is just like daycare. She confesses that she does not believe that Budd understands what is going on. (*See* Case Notes, P. 14).
- d) On September 12, 2005, Brooks made an entry indicating that Budd was disengaged in the whole process and his responses were generally only one or two syllables. (*See* Case Notes, P. 10).
- e) On October 19, 2005, Brooks made an entry in the notes indicating that Budd remains disconnected from the case and unwilling to deal with reality. (*See* Case Notes, P. 9).
- f) On November 18, 2005, the State filed an Amended Notice of Evidence in Aggravation. (See Amended Notice of Evidence in Aggravation). The State sought to introduce evidence of aggravation consisting solely of the anticipated conviction of more than one count of murder in the instant case. Id.
- g) On November 28, 2005, Brooks met with Bud. During this meeting, Budd denied he committed the crime and when Budd told him the evidence was overwhelming that Budd would be convicted on all three counts. Budd responded that he would just "hope for the best." (See Case Notes, P. 7). Brooks asked if Budd wanted to testify to which Budd's response was in the affirmative. Id.

The State responded to the First Petition and the Second Petition on November 6, 2013. APLT. APP. 002928-002958. The State summarily argued against each claim raised by Budd in the First Petition by arguing Brooks rendered effective assistance and Budd had not suffered any prejudice. *Id*.

On December 12, 2013, Budd filed his *Third Supplemental Petition for*Writ of Habeas Corpus (the "**Third Petition**"). APLT. APP. 002986-002989.

The Third Petition did not contain any additional argument but attached an exhibit that had inadvertently not been attached to the First or Second Petition.

Id. This exhibit was an internal office memorandum created by the Office of the Clark County Public Defender, which is a summary of the statement of Tamara Steel. Id.

On December 26, 2013, Budd filed his *Fourth Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post Conviction)* (the "**Fourth Petition**" and, collectively with the First Petition, Second Petition and Third Petition, the "**Petitions**"). APLT. APP. 003000-003036. The Fourth Petition did not contain any additional argument. *Id.* The Fourth Petition attached Brooks' case notes in their entirety that Brooks wrote during his representation of Budd. *Id.*

On January 10, 2014, the trial court granted the State's request for access to original trial counsel Brooks' case notes, the original petition, and the Petitions. APLT. APP. 003037-003038. It further struck ground "A" from the First Petition upon Budd's request and ordered an evidentiary hearing to be held on the remaining grounds. *Id*.

On August 22, 2014, the Petitions and responses came for evidentiary hearing. APLT. APP. 003041-003090. Brooks was sworn in and testified, and found to be credible by the trial court. APLT. APP. 003045; 003087. The

Dismissal Order was entered on October 17, 2014. APLT. APP. 003091-003103. The Notice of Appeal was filed on November 4, 2014.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Pertinent Events Occurring Outside the Courtroom.

On October 11, 2005, the defense interviewed Tamara Grierson Steel who was Budd's ex-girlfriend. *See*, Third Petition; APLT. APP. 002986-002989. During this interview, Tamara informed Budd's counsel that she was aware that someone had stolen marijuana from Budd and that some new neighbors made fun of Budd for not doing anything about the theft. Tamara then stated, "they gave him PCP, and then he 'went crazy." *Id*.

B. Jury Trial.

The trial commenced on December 5, 2005. APLT. APP. 00443-00653. At the onset, Brooks made an oral motion to continue the trial due to Budd's dissatisfaction with Brooks' representation, indicating that another attorney was willing to take the case over. APLT. APP. 00443-44. Brooks represented to the court that his relationship with Budd was non-existent and that, as to the guilt phase, the lack of relationship would not make any difference in the outcome of the proceedings. APLT. APP. 00449. The court then bolstered Brooks and said it was absurd for Budd not to work with him. APLT. APP. 00451. The court denied the continuance. *Id*.

In violation of his own motion to exclude all references to the "guilt phase" during the trial, Brooks himself referring to the trial as the "guilt phase." APLT. APP. 00482. During initial discussions with the jury venire, Brooks stated "[w]hether we call witnesses in the guilt phase will be determined entirely and according to what the State presents." *Id.* This use of the phrase by Brooks was not an isolated incident. APLT. APP. 00617.

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