#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

\_\_\_\_

Electronically Filed Jun 29 2015 08:35 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

GLENFORD BUDD,

Appellant,

V.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 66815

### **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

Appeal from the District Court's Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order denying Post-Conviction Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

MATTHEW D. CARLING, ESQ. Nevada Bar #007302 1100 S. Tenth Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 419-7330

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

Therefore, considering the overwhelming evidence of premeditation, even if this alleged witness testified, there is no reasonable probability that the result of the trial would have been different. Thus, the district court properly found that Appellant's counsel was not ineffective in this regard.

### C. APPELLANT'S COUNSEL ZEALOUSLY ADVOCATED FOR APPELLANT, SAVING HIM FROM THE DEATH PENALTY

Appellant next argues that the district court erred in denying his Petition because his counsel was ineffective for failing to "zealously advocate" for him and "entirely failed to subject the State's case to the adversarial process." AOB 51. Appellant likewise argued in his Petition that his counsel did not zealously advocate for him. 13 AA 2900-01. The district court found that Appellant failed to demonstrate that his counsel was ineffective for not zealously advocating for him. 13 AA 3095.

23

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Basically, Appellant makes numerous allegations about his counsel's representation including failing to object, informing the jury that Appellant and Lewis were in jail together, admitting Appellant's guilt to the jury, failing to present any defense witnesses, among other accusations and repeated allegations. AOB 52-55.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Appellant specifically argued in his Petition that his counsel failed to zealously advocate for him because (1) his counsel made a record at trial that he had some cooperation issues with Appellant and Appellant's family, and (2) his counsel argued

Appellant simply fails to demonstrate that his counsel did not zealously advocate for him. His counsel was very candid at the evidentiary hearing regarding his strategic decisions at trial. Appellant's counsel acknowledged that "the evidence of guilt was overwhelming," thus, he "wanted the jury to see the defense as being completely open and transparent and not obstructionist." 13 AA 3052. As a result, counsel "did not want to be fighting about things coming into evidence, when it was obvious what happened in the guilt phase." <u>Id</u>. He further explained that given the overwhelming evidence of guilt, his focus was mainly on saving Appellant's life and avoiding the death penalty. Id. Thus, while Appellant raises a number of things that he claims his counsel did not do – such as, objecting to a variety of things at trial – counsel clearly made a strategic decision not to raise every possible objection and instead, to be "completely open and transparent." This is a reasonable strategy because (1) there was overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt; and (2) Appellant's counsel wanted to maintain and gain credibility with the jury, in hopes that they would spare Appellant from a death sentence. In fact, counsel testified regarding his concern about losing credibility:

> I think that we tried to – had we tested a lot of things in the trial phase and it's entirely possible we would've lose some credibility. And I think that our credibility was enhanced by not doing that and I think that we had more credibility in the penalty phase by not doing that.

-

for the State regarding the availability of Appellant's uncle. 13 AA 2900-01. The district court found that these claims were without merit. 13 AA 3095.

13 AA 3074. Thus, it is clear that Appellant's counsel had a reasonable strategy behind his decisions not to object to every objectionable issue.<sup>8</sup>

Further, even if his counsel's representation had been unreasonable, Appellant fails to demonstrate that, but for these errors, the outcome of his case would have been different. In fact, even though there was overwhelming evidence demonstrating that Appellant planned, premeditated, and deliberated the execution of three young men, Appellant's counsel saved Appellant from receiving the death penalty. 8 AA 1738-40. As such, it is clear that Appellant was not prejudiced by his counsel's zealous advocacy, but instead, benefitted from it as he is not currently sitting on death row.

## D. APPELLANT FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE THAT HIS COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE REGARDING THE ALLEGED UNAUTHORIZED ADMISSION

Appellant contends that his counsel was ineffective when he made an "unauthorized admission of guilt" at trial. AOB 59, 61. The alleged concession consisted of counsel explaining to the jury that "some evidence will show that [Appellant] killed these three people." AOB 59.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Moreover, Appellant also provides several bare allegations regarding other alleged errors on his counsel's behalf. AOB 52-54. However, Appellant fails to demonstrate that his counsel's strategic decision to focus on avoiding the death penalty was unreasonable, given the overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt.

Appellant previously raised this same claim in his Petition. 13 AA 2903-06. However, the district court denied this claim, finding that after making the above statement, Appellant counsel "then explained that the evidence was insufficient to overcome reasonable doubt." 13 AA 3096. The district court found that this "was an objectively reasonable strategy given the overwhelming evidence against [Appellant]." <u>Id</u>. The district court also found that Appellant failed to demonstrate prejudice. <u>Id</u>.

At trial, after the State presented its opening statements, the defense gave its opening statement, and stated:

[The State] says the evidence will show that [Appellant] killed these three people. Let me make it absolutely clear, some evidence will show that [Appellant] killed these three people.

5 AA 999. However, the defense continued on to discredit this evidence, explaining that the State's witnesses were too far away to accurately see what happened and had a motive "to create false stories to protect themselves." <u>Id</u>. Ultimately, the defense explained that when taken as a whole, there is reasonable doubt that Appellant committed these crimes. 5 AA 1000. In regards to this issue at the evidentiary hearing, defense counsel disagreed that his statement during opening alleviated any of the State's burden, and explained that it "was simply a recognition of what the evidence would in fact show." 13 AA 3056.

Appellant incorrectly construes defense counsel's statement as an "admission." AOB 59-60. When taken in context, counsel took a reasonable strategic approach in his opening statement to preserve credibility with the jury by acknowledging that the State had at least "some" evidence to implicate Defendant. 5 AA 999. This is consistent with counsel's testimony at the evidentiary hearing that the defense trial strategy was to be "completely open and transparent." 13 AA 3052. Counsel then proceeded to explain that the State's evidence was not sufficient to overcome reasonable doubt. 5 AA 1000. Thus, counsel's strategy was objectively reasonable in light of the overwhelming evidence of Defendant's guilt.

Even if this Court considered counsel's statements to be an admission, this does not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel. Indeed, the United States Supreme Court specifically stated that a strategy wherein a Defendant concedes guilt at a capital trial is not the functional equivalent of a guilty plea. Florida v. Nixon, 543 U.S. 175, 188, 125 S.Ct. 551, 560-61 (2004). Moreover, counsel is not automatically deemed ineffective in executing such a strategy without first obtaining the client's express consent. Id. at 186-87, 125 S.Ct. at 560. "Attorneys representing capital defendants face daunting challenges in developing trial strategies, not least because the defendant's guilt is often clear. Prosecutors are more likely to seek the death penalty, and to refuse to accept a plea to a life sentence, when the evidence is

overwhelming and the crime heinous." Id. at 191, 125 S.Ct. at 562. Accordingly, Appellant's counsel's strategy was objectively reasonably under circumstances where there was overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt, including eyewitness testimony, Appellant's admission to his uncle, and a rap song written by Appellant confessing to the three murders. Moreover, Appellant fails to show that an alternative strategy would have been reasonably likely to render a more favorable outcome considering that after Appellant systematically murdered three young men, his counsel's performance spared Appellant from the death penalty.

### II. APPELLANT FAILS TO DEMONSTRATE CUMULATIVE ERROR

Appellant argues that the district court erred in denying his cumulative error claim. AOB 64-65. Even if this Court finds that his individual claims do not constitute error, Appellant contends that the cumulative effect of these claims justify relief. AOB 64 (citing Evans v. State, 117 Nev. 609, 647-48, 28 P.3d 498, 524 (2001)).

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Appellant relies on <u>United States v. Swanson</u>, 943 F.2d 1070 (1991), to support his claim that his counsel was ineffective for admitting Appellant's guilt in opening statements. However, <u>Swanson</u> is not akin to Appellant's case because in <u>Swanson</u>, defense counsel conceded that "there was no reasonable doubt that his client robbed the bank." 943 F.2d at 1074. This is completely inconsistent with the facts of Appellant's case, wherein his counsel merely acknowledged that there is evidence against Appellant, and in fact argued that there *was* reasonable doubt. As such, Appellant's reliance on <u>Swanson</u> is misplaced and unpersuasive.

Appellant similarly alleged cumulative error in his Petition. 13 AA 2913. The district court denied this claim finding that "Appellant has failed to provide any claims to warrant relief, thus there is no cumulative effect." 13 AA 3098. Moreover, the district court found that "[t]his is merely a bare allegation and therefore [Appellant's] claim is denied." Id.

Without expressly endorsing an approach for cumulative error in the context of ineffective assistance of counsel claims, this Court has acknowledged that other courts have held that "multiple deficiencies in counsel's performance may be cumulated for purposes of the prejudice prong of the <u>Strickland</u> test when the individual deficiencies otherwise would not meet the prejudice prong." <u>McConnell v. State</u>, 125 Nev. 243, 259 n.17, 212 P.3d 307, 318 n.17 (2009) (utilizing this approach to note that the defendant is not entitled to relief). However, the doctrine of cumulative error is strictly applied, and a finding of cumulative error is extraordinarily rare. <u>State v. Hester</u>, 979 P.2d 729, 733 (N.M. 1999); <u>Derden v. McNeel</u>, 978 F.2d 1453, 1461 (5th Cir. 1992).

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>Appellant also claims that "[t]he State argued in the post-conviction proceedings that [Appellant] was required to argue the factors of cumulative error," specifically whether the issue of guilt was close, the quantity and character of the error, and the gravity of the crime charged." AOB 63 (citing <u>Valdez v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 1172, 196 P.3d 465 (2008)). Appellant then went on to argue that these factors have only been used "in cases appealing directly from the judgment of conviction and not from habeas corpus proceedings." AOB 63. However, in the State's response to Appellant's Petition, the State merely pointed out, as an alternative argument, that Appellant had not addressed these cumulative error factors. 13 AA 2957.

In order for cumulative error analysis to apply, a defendant must first make a threshold showing that his counsel's performance was deficient and counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. State v. Theil, 655 N.W.2d 305, 323 (Wis. 2003); State v. Sheahan, 77 P.3d 956, 976 (Idaho 2003); State v. Savo, 108 P.3d 903, 916 (Alaska 2005); State v. Maestas, 299 P.3d 892, 990 (Utah 2012). In fact, logic dictates that cumulative error cannot exist where the defendant fails to show that any violation or deficiency existed under Strickland. McConnell, 125 Nev. at 259, 212 P.3d at 318; United States v. Franklin, 321 F.3d 1231, 1241 (9th Cir. 2003); Turner v. Quarterman, 481 F.3d 292, 301 (5th Cir. 2007); Pearson v. State, 12 P.3d 686, 692 (Wyo. 2000); Hester, 979 P.2d at 733. Further, in order to cumulate errors, the defendant must not only show that an error occurred regarding his counsel's representation, but that at least two errors occurred. Rolle v. State, 236 P.3d 259, 276-77 (Wyo. 2010); Hooks v. Workman, 689 F.3d 1148, 1194-95 (10th Cir. 2012).

If the defendant can show that two or more errors existed in his counsel's representation, then he must next show that cumulatively, the errors prejudiced him. McConnell, 125 Nev. at 259 n.17, 212 P.3d at 318 n.17; Doyle v. State, 116 Nev. 148, 163, 995 P.2d 465, 474 (2000); State v. Novak, 124 P.3d 182, 189 (Mont. 2005); Savo, 108 P.13d at 916; People v. Walton, 167 P.3d 163, 169 (Colo. App. 2007). A defendant only shows that prejudice exists when he has shown that the cumulative

effect of the errors "were sufficiently significant to undermine [the court's] confidence in the outcome of the . . . trial." In re Jones, 917 P.2d 1175, 1193 (Cal. 1996); Collins v. Sec'y of Pennsylvania Dep't of Corr., 742 F.3d 528, 542 (3d Cir. 2014). "[M]ere allegations of error without proof of prejudice" are insufficient to demonstrate cumulative error. Novak, 124 P.3d at 189. Further, "in most cases errors, even unreasonable errors, will not have a cumulative impact sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial, especially if the evidence against the defendant remains compelling." Theil, 665 N.W.2d at 322-23; see also State v. Maestas, 299 P.3d 892, 990 (2012) (holding that errors resulting in no harm are insufficient to demonstrate cumulative error). Further, cumulative error is not appropriate when a review of "the record as a whole demonstrates that a defendant received a fair trial." State v. Martin, 686 P.2d 937, 943 (N.M. 1984).

Thus, in order to demonstrate cumulative error, a defendant must show: (1) his counsel made multiple errors that were objectively unreasonable, and (2) the cumulative effect of these errors prejudiced the defendant to the extent that the court's confidence in the outcome of the case is undermined.

As demonstrated above, Appellant has failed to make a single showing that his counsel's representation was objectively unreasonable. Further, even if Appellant had made such a showing, he has certainly not shown that the cumulative effect of these errors was so prejudicial as to undermine the court's confidence in

the outcome of Appellant's case. <u>Collins</u>, 742 F.3d at 542. Therefore, his claim of cumulative error is without merit.<sup>11</sup>

# III. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT APPELLANT WAS NOT PREJUDICED, AND DID NOT APPLY A HARMLESS ERROR STANDARD

Appellant notes that the district court determined that he was not prejudiced "because of the overwhelming amount of evidence presented." AOB 66. As such, Appellant contends that the district court erred when it "failed to acknowledge or apply the heightened standard of beyond a reasonable doubt for proving harmlessness on constitutional errors." Id.

Appellant seems to relying on <u>Chapman v. California</u>, 386 U.S. 18, 23-24, 87 S.Ct. 824, 827-28 (1967), and <u>Ramiez v. State</u>, 114 Nev. 550, 562-63, 958 P.2d 724, 731-32 (1998), when arguing that the district court failed to find counsel's errors harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The State does not contest that if a district court finds an error of constitutional magnitude, then the district court must then find the error harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, otherwise the error is not harmless.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>Appellant relies on this Court's holding in <u>Evans</u> to argue that "grounds that cannot prove error in segregation from one another can culminate in a larger picture of overall ineffectiveness." AOB 65. However, Appellant misinterprets and misapplies <u>Evans</u>. In <u>Evans</u>, this Court held that the defendant had in fact raised claims of error, but failed to show that the cumulative effect of these errors had prejudiced him. 117 Nev. at 647-48, 28 P.3d at 524. Thus, <u>Evans</u> does not apply to Appellant's case as he fails to show first, that any errors occurred, and second, that he was prejudiced as a result.

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